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B-3287 - B-3298 1845-1900 
1044-1000 S. Char les S t . (West s ide ) 
Bal t imore , Md. 
Private and semi-public access 

The houses that were originally built along this side of S. Charles St. in 
the late 1840's were built either as two story plus attic, two bay wide brick 
houses, or three story, two bay wide brick houses, both with gable roofs. Most 
served a combination residential/commercial function. A number of these original 
houses have survived in close to their original exterior form, but many were 
remodeled after the Civil War and now have shed roofs and bracketed cornices. 
1026 S. Charles St. is particularly noteworthy for its surviving Victorian-style 
shopfront with cast iron corner columns. The original group of gable-roofed houses 
that stood at 1000-1010 S. Charles St. was replaced in 1900 by a large three story, 
five bay wide,brown brick department store with Classical Revival details (Wessel's 
Department store) which now serves as a supermarket. 
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This group of two story plus attic brick houses with gable roofs are 
survivors of the original row of two and a half story houses that extended 
along this side of Charles St. The first floor areas have been converted into 
modern store-fronts. 1042 Charles St. has been covered with formstone; 1038 and 
1040 have new brick facades. 

The houses are two and a half stories in height, 13' wide, and occupy 
lots 55' deep. 1038-1040 Charles has a modern concrete block addition three 
stories in height and three bays deep. The facades of 1038 and 1040 Charles 
are laid in common bond, but the houses were probably constructed in running 
bond. The low-pitched gable roof has a continuous two-tier brick cornice. 

The second story window openings have splayed brick lintels and wood sills. 
The attic story windows have flat wood lintels and wood sills covered with 
aluminum siding. The second floor window openings are filled with 1/1 double 
hung sash; the attic story windows are filled with single panes of glass. The 
first floor areas have been converted into store-fronts. That of 1042 Charles 
has a glass and panel door set in the northenmost bay and flanked by a two-sided 
projecting plate glass store window set on a formstoned base. A deep wooden sign 
area extends above the store-front and runs the entire width of the building. 
At 1038-1040 Charles St. there is a recessed glass and panel door located in 
the center of 1038 Charles, flanked by two two-sided plate glass store windows 
set on aluminum siding bases. An aluminum sign area extends above the store-front 
and runs the entire width of the buildings. The entrances are reached directly 
from the street. 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

This group of houses is significant as being representative of a large group of 
such two story plus attic houses built in the 1840's andl850's in the area immediately 
surrounding the Cross St. Market (founded 1846). The houses were designed to provide 
a combination of commercial and residential space for the influx of small shop-keepers 
who were moving into the area to serve the needs of the growing community. The first 
floor area served as a store-front and the family lived on the floors above. Today, 
although the first floor areas have been completely remodeled, the houses still serve 
the same function as when they were built. 

The houses were built by Henry Strube, a local carpenter who also built a row of 
houses across the street at 1041-1047 S. Charles St.1 The houses were rented to a 
variety of tenants until after the Civil War when they were then sold to individual 
owners. The first owner-occupant of 1042 S. Charles St. was a David Heinz, a laborer; 
an early owner of 1040 S. Charles St. was a John Schurer, who operated a liquor store 
at this location in the 1870's, 1880's, and 1890's; and the first owner-occupant of 
1038 S. Charles St. was a John Carney, also a laborer.2 

1Baltimore City Land Records, Liber AWB 361, Folio 317 

2Ibid., Liber AM 322, Folio 446; AM 333/58; AM 320/535; Baltimore City Directory, 1867-8, 
1870, 1877, 1885, 1895 
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